Fig. 1:
of the west erypt.

The 15th cenfury Guildhall and the later porcih, before the recent restoration

{Photo: P, Marsdzn)

The pre-1411 Guildhall

of London

THE GUILDHALL has been the focus of civic
life in London since the second quarter of the 12th
century, but until recent wvears little was known
about the building that had existed prior to its
reconstruction in 1411, A very important study

PETER MARSDEN

of the earlier Guildhall was published by Dr.
Caroling Barron in 1974, which incorporated the
extremely detailed architectural study of the pre-
sent late medieval building by Terry Ball of the
Directorate of Ancient Monuments, Department
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Fip. 2: Svgppested phases in the development of
Guildhall, Phase 1, possibly 12th century; phase 2,
possibly late 13th cemiury; phase 3, buili in 1411

(Drawn by P, Mauarsden)

of the Environment',

This study of Guildhall was published soon after
the completion of the restoration of the western
crypt, the porch, and the exterior of the south-
weslern parlt of the building, During 1968, how-
gver, the old buildings on the west side of Guild-
hail Yard were demolished. and it was possible
for the present author to gather further informa-
tion which it has not been possible to publish
hefore mow, even in an inferim form. This new
information not anly  reinforces the conclusions
made by Dr. Barron, but also adds further detail

towards  understanding  the  development  of
Guildhall,
1, €. Barron, The meedieval Fuildhall af London. Pub-

lished by the Corporation of London, 1974
2. Barronop cit, p.l5
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In spite of John Stow’s claim that the Guildhall
preceding the 1411 building was “a little cotage™
which had stood on the east side of Alderman-
bury street “not farre from the west ende of
Guildhall now used™, Dr. Barron was able 1o
demonstrate not only that this carlier building must

have occupied part of the site of the present
Guildhall, but alsc that it was a substantial

bulding.

Much of the early 15th century Guildhall sur-
vives to this day (Fig. 1) and comprises a large
hall and poerch at ground level, and twe under-
crofts, called the east and wesl crypts. at base
ment level (Fig. 2). There is a tower at each of
the four corners of the buiding, and the walls ar
reinforced by a series of external buttresses. Bul
although much of this [5th century Guildhall
appears (0 present a coherent and unified plan,
particularly in the great hall and in the eastern
crypt, on closer examination it is clear that there
are some Inconsistencies relating to the western
crvpt and to the porch, which show that those
parts of the building are of earlier date.

That the west crypt is earlier than the 13th cen-
tury rebuilding of Guildhall has long been suspec-
teted, and the recent study by Dr. Barron confirms
this. The architectural styles, floor levels and the
module of vauliing in both crypts are very different
from each other, the east crypt being of a simpler
and earlier style. Indeed the wall separating the
two erypls preserves clear evidence that the east
erypt of 1411 was added to the then demaolished
gast end of the west crypt, since it arbitrarily cuts
across the vaulting of the west crypt (Fig. 5). The
new information shows that two building phases,
rather than only one, can be identified as appa-

Fig. 3: Wall plaster from the recess in the west

erypl. (Phota: J. Bailey)
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Fig, 4:
Phase 2 wall.

rently preceding the early 15th century reconstruc-
tion of Guildhall. Thus, by taking into account
the historical and architectural information des-
cribed by Dr. Barron, il is now possible Lo suggest
how the building may have developed.

Phase 1: 712th - 13th century Guildhall (Fig. 2)

It was in the north wall of the west crypt that
clzar evidence of the earliest phase of Guildhall
has been found. Since the vaulting in the crypt is
balieved to have preceded the 1411 rebuilding of
Guildhall, and was perhaps built in the late 13th
century, it 18 significant that a pilaster of the
vauliing was found blocking a recess in the north
wall. This blocked recess clearly shows that
the wvaulting had been constructed at  leas
partly within the shell of an earlier standing
building, The recess was noted by the author
during repairs to the north wall of the crypt, at
which time a sample of its surface rendering was
removed, The sample (Fig. 3) clearly shows that
the recess had been given a carefully prepared white

Bottom of the porch wall showing the obligoe Phase 1 wall overlaid by the

(Photo: R, Merrifizld)

surface, and was unlikely to have been a tempo-
rary rendering made during the construction of
the crypt vaulting, It is clear, therefore, that at
least this part of the north wall of Guildhall was
already standing and was modified to enable it
to be incorporated into the second phase of the
build.ng when the vaulting was constructed,

The date of this original north wall is unlikely
to have been earlier than the 12th century since
only about 3m (10ft) to the east of the recess, and
just north of the wall, evidence of a stream bed
was found during 1951, in which 12th century
poltery was found®. The stream was apparently
earlier than the wall for the silt also contained
rushes laid north-south indicating that the Hfow
of water had crossed the line of the wall.

There is no proof that this wall containing the
recess was part of the first Guildball, since the

3. Museum of London records, and R. Merrificld, The
Reman Citv of London, London, 1965, p2236, site
127.
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site of the 12th century building is not known,
Mevertheless as subsequent Guildhalls were built
on this site it is templing to see here part of the
building that was recorded in about 1127 when
ferva Crialle measured 52t (15.85m) in width and
1328t (40.22m) in length*, Since this is the approsi-
mate width of the western crypt of Guildhall, in
whose north wall the recess occurred, it is possible
that the west and south walls of the crypl also
may have belonged to this first building,

Additional evidence, perhaps of this first phase.
has alse been found in the west wall of the poren,
where two phases of wall construction appear W
have preceded the 1411 construction. The earliest
wall lay ar a slighily obligue alignment o the
upper part of the porch, and was constructed of
dressed blocks of ragstone and mortar on a
foundat'on of ragstone and mortar (Fig. 4). The
botiom of the faced wall and the junction wilh iis
foundation of haphazard stonework lay at 1.2m (4ft)
below the pavement surface of Guildhall Yard, sug-
pesting that this was the ground level at the time the
wall was constructed. This is of course considerably
lower than the porch floor level in the 15th century.
and is itself an indicator of the early date of the Hrst
wall,

Judging from this it seems that the first Guild-
hall may have been an L-shaped building whose
ground floor level may have been at abour the
Hoor level of the western crypt. Since it is notori-
ously difficult to date building styles, it could be
argued that as the stone facing of the carlest
porch wall did not match the facing of the west
and south walls of the western crypt, then the

Fig. 6: An intrusive buttress of the 1411 Cuildhall
cutling through the west crypt vaplting. The wall

Face has been restored, (Photo; T. Hurst)
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Fig. 5: Truncated vaoliing at the east end of the
wisd crypl. Both the vawlting and the Hoor have
been restored, but the end of the vawliing had
survived im the wall (left) which separated the iwo
ery pis. {Photo: T, Hurss)

earliest porch wall may have belonged (0 a
different building. On the other hand, as il is
clear that much of the exterior of the west crvpt
had been modified. particularly during the early
[5th century when the windows were insertad, it
could be suggested that only parts of the core of
the walls of the lirst phase building have survived
in the wesiern crypt area, The recess, for example,
was only identified in the core of the north wall,

Phase 2: T13th - 14th century Guildhall (Fig, 2)

The second phase of Guildhall is clearly pre-
served in the west crypt, for it includes the vault-
ing which had been inserted into the shell of the
earlicr building or buildings. The date of this
phase is far from certain since we must rely upon
the simple architectural siyle of the pillars sup-
porting the vaulting, Dr. Barron {entatively sug-
gests that the vaulting may have been constructed
during the late 13th century?,

Curiously, it is the 1411 rebuilding of Guildhall

4. Barron, ap cif, pl3.
5. Barron, ap cir, p.2l.



Fig. 7: The east crypt of Guildhall constructed in 1411,
(Photo: R. Merrificld)

that provides the clearest evidence of Lhe early
date of the west crypt, for at that time the vauli-
ing at the east end of the crypt had bean cut
across in mid-span by a wall inserted to separate
the two crypts (Fig. 5).

There is further evidence that the west crypt is
carlicr than the cast ¢rypt, for, not only are the
floor levels of the adjoining <rypls different, but
also the walls are of different thicknesses, The west
crypt walls are of insufficient thickness to support
the hzightened 15th century building, and as a
result a series of massive internal pilasters had 1o
be added, cotting arbitrarily through the existing
vaulting (Fig. 6). The east crypt of 1411, by compari-
son. had much thicker walls, and therefore had no
need for internal pilasters,

lhe cornzr towers provide another important clue,
Those built at the east end of the ecastern crypt were
evidently constructed as part of that crypt in 1411,
for their staircases were carried down to crypt level.
In contrast, however, the towers at the west end of
the western crypt merely had siaircases rising only

from the hall above the crypt. A careful examina-
tion of the foundation of the south-west corner
lower explains why, for it shows that it was sepa-
rated from the crypt wall by a straight joint. thus
proving that this tower had been added o the west
crypt (Fig. 8). And finally the buttresses, another
distinetive feature of the 15th ceatury Guildhall,
were also clearly added to the west crypt for their
foundalions too were separated from it by straight
joints.

Dr. Barron has now shown from the historical
evidence that the pre-1411 Guildhall lay on the
site of the western crypt, and that it comprised a
cellar (7 the west crypt) which underbay a “great
hall™ where the “immense commonalty™ met to
elect the Mayor and take important decisions. In
addition, she has shown that by the first half of the
14th century Guildhall had an Upper Chamber or
Council Chamber, and a smaller inner chamber,
about which she has written: “it seems likzlv, al-
though there 15 now no surviving archaeological
evidence, that these may have been contamed in

119



N
i} !
5
8
b,

Fig, 8: A straighi joint separating (e Foosdation
of the south-west cormer tower from the west crypl
wall. {Photo: P. Marsden)

a north-south cross wing at the eastern end of the
building, opening off the screens passage™.

In fact a careful and independent analysis of the
west wall of the porch has revealed substantial
traces of a wall overlying the early porch wall men-
tioned as part of phase 1. This later porch wall is

Letters

FUBLICITY FOR ARCHAEOLOGY

A5 A PROFESSIONAL publicist and amateur archago-
logist, it concerns me that on all the excavations 1 have
worked there has been little or no appreciation of the
publicity value of the activities. I have no doubl that
many  historians find the attentions of the media un-
seltling — if not repugnant — because of their tendency
to trivialise infarmation but [ hope 1o perswade them
that with the right approach the local press in particu-
lar can be exploited 1o their benefit. And publicity is
essential. Public support for archaeological work is neces-
sary if funds are to continue in times of economic Jdiffi-
culty. The simplest way to start 15 to send a press releass.
or even a letter, to local mewspapers, TV, and radio
stations (g0 the Mews Editor) announcing the start of
the excavation, informing them of the basic details. In
many cases they will wish to send a reporter, so give
a person to condact — and a telephone nomber. They
shoubd subsquently be notified of any finds likely to
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probably of 14th century date, and presumably was
part of the cross wing. The wall lics on a slightly
different alignment from the earlier wall, and its
west face was constructed of ragstone and courses
of squared knapped flints. This facing has only
survived towards the south end of the wall, whereas
at the north end, what presumably was its chalk
and rubble core was found to be bonded into the
lower part of the south wall of the western cryvpl
The crypt and porch walls were therefore conicm-
porary constructions,

The courses of flint and ragstoneg are distinctive
and somewhat similar to the mid-14th century cons-
truction of the city wall in 5t. Alphage Gardens and
in Westminster Abbey,” suggesting that here is archi-
tectural evidence for some of the construction work
at Guildhall which is recorded in documentary
records primarily during the 13308 Above the
courses of Ainl and ragsione there occurred squared
stone facing, apparently of the early 15th century
building (phase 3).

The significance of this analysis of the develop-
ment of Guildhall is that each stage reflects the
growing aspirations and dignity of the self- governing
authority of medieval Londen, from its inception
during the 12th century. And also it shows not
only that the development of Guildhall is far more
complex than was imagined, but also that the
achievement of John Croxtone, Master Mason and
Architect of Guildhall during the 15th century”,
was, like his building (Fig. 7, clearly of outstanding
dimension,

6. Barron, op cif, p22

7. W. F. Grimes, The Excavartion of Roman and Medige-
vl London, London, 1968, pBl, plates 25, 26.

8. Barron, op cit, p.2l.

9, Barron, op cff, p25

be of broad interest — and if additional velunteers are
required they should be advised also.

We should not be afraid to publicise voluniger help
but loak for an interesting ‘angle’: 1 once achieved
several column inches about a relatively uninteresting
site in a leading national daily newspaper by writing a
short note to the Woman's Page Editor reporting on the
work of volunteer housewives. In times of financial
stringency, the wvalue of unpaid volontesrs can not be
pver emphasised, so an item for the noticeboard of all
local colleges and senior schools asking for such aid
can  pay dividends, Schools should be 1nvited fo send
parties to visit the site (and be shown around by an
articulate puide)

If all these suggestions meet with disfavour, can |1
make a plea for ome single but highly effective form of
commumpication, Put up a nobice where people who come
{o see what is happening can read i, giving bricf details
of the site and the werk and welcoming woluntcers: not
only will this ensure that local people know what s
happening, it will save you having to put up with those
inane questions with which you are repeatedly pestered!

COLIN 1SAACSON



